AUSTRALIAN COMMISSION ON SAFETY AND QUALITY IN HEALTH CARE

October 2017

## User Guide to the National Subcutaneous Insulin Chart: Subacute Hospitals and Mental Health Facilities

For use in adult patients

Published by the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care Level 5, 255 Elizabeth Street, Sydney NSW 2000

Phone: (02) 9126 3600

Email: <u>mail@safetyandquality.gov.au</u> Website: www.safetyandquality.gov.au

ISBN: 978-1-925224-97-9

© Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care 2017

All material and work produced by the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care is protected by copyright. The Commission reserves the right to set out the terms and conditions for the use of such material.

As far as practicable, material for which the copyright is owned by a third party will be clearly labelled. The Commission has made all reasonable efforts to ensure that this material has been reproduced in this publication with the full consent of the copyright owners.

With the exception of any material protected by a trademark, any content provided by third parties, and where otherwise noted, all material presented in this publication is licensed under a <u>Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International Licence.</u>



Enquiries about the licence and any use of this publication are welcome and can be sent to <u>communications@safetyandquality.gov.au</u>.

The Commission's preference is that you attribute this publication (and any material sourced from it) using the following citation:

Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. User Guide to the National Subcutaneous Insulin Chart: Sub-acute facilities. Sydney: ACSQHC; 2017.

#### Disclaimer

The content of this document is published in good faith by the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care for information purposes. The document is not intended to provide guidance on particular healthcare choices. You should contact your health care provider on particular healthcare choices.

This document includes the views or recommendations of its authors and third parties. Publication of this document by the Commission does not necessarily reflect the views of the Commission, or indicate a commitment to a particular course of action. The Commission does not accept any legal liability for any injury, loss or damage incurred by the use of, or reliance on, this document

## Contents

Background and chart overview	4
The national subcutaneous insulin chart	5
General requirements and instructions	7
Preparing the chart for use	8
3.1 Patient Identification	8
3.2 Cross-referencing the national standard medication chart (NSMC)	9
3.3 Hospital details	10
3.4 Doctor to notify	10
3.5 Special instructions	10
3.6 Diabetes treatment prior to admission	11
Instructions for monitoring blood glucose levels	12
4.1 BGL frequency	12
4.2 Adjusting the chart to accommodate more than six BGLs for a single day	13
4.3 What to do if BGL readings fall out of alignment with routine insulin orders	14
4.4 Diet	15
Monitoring blood glucose levels and responding to alerts	16
5.1 Recording BGLs	16
5.2 Alerts	17
5.3 Modified BGL ranges	18
Ordering insulin	19
6.1 Routine insulin orders	19
6.2 Supplemental insulin orders	23
6.3 Stat/Phone insulin orders	26
6.3.1 Stat orders 6.3.2 Phone orders 6.3.3 What to do if there are too many phone orders to fit into the phone order section	26 26 28
6.4 Administration record	29
Administering insulin and documenting administration	30
7.1 Administration of a routine insulin dose	31
7.2 Administration of a supplemental insulin dose	32
7.3 Administration of a phone order	33
7.4 Examples	34
7.4.1 Routine insulin example 7.4.2 Supplemental insulin example	34 35

7.4.3 Phone order example	36
Comments section	37
Pharmacy review	37
Reviewing hyperglycaemia treatment	38
Treating hypoglycaemia and reviewing treatment	39
11.1 Treating hypoglycaemia	39

## **Background and chart overview**

The purpose of this user guide is to explain how clinicians should use the National Subcutaneous Insulin Chart. Although some sections of this document may be more relevant for either prescribers or nurses, it is important to read the whole document sequentially to fully understand the chart – Insulin Subcutaneous Order and Blood Glucose Record – Adult. For further information on the design rationales behind the chart, as well as details of the development process and an initial evaluation, please refer to the following document, available from www.safetyandquality.gov.au:

Horswill MS, Hill A, Christofidis M, Francis S, Watson MO. Development and initial evaluation of a new subcutaneous insulin form: final report. Sydney: Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care; 2015.

Insulin is recognised internationally as a high-alert or high-risk medication in healthcare settings by the Institute for Safe Medication Practices (ISMP). Because of the risks associated with its use, several Australian hospitals contacted the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care (the Commission) requesting a standardised national chart for the ordering and administration of insulin, and for the recording of blood glucose levels (BGLs). As a result, the current version of the chart was developed by the Commission in collaboration with human factors researchers from The University of Queensland.

The use of human factors design in the development of other charts has resulted in significant reductions in errors and improvements in clinical outcomes. In addition, standardising the communication of medical information between doctors, nurses and pharmacists can reduce harm to patients from medication errors.

For inpatients with diabetes, the National Subcutaneous Insulin Chart links together all the key information required to manage the treatment of their condition. This should enable clinical staff to care for these patients more effectively. For patients who are not currently being treated with insulin, the chart is used primarily for BGL monitoring.

The chart has been designed to reflect best practice and to promote consistent documentation, to assist with accurate interpretation of BGLs and subcutaneous insulin orders.

On the next page is a filled-in example of the chart. The Monitoring Record section is used for the recording and monitoring of BGLs, and provides prompts advising when a BGL should be acted upon if it is too low (for hypoglycaemia) or if it is elevated (for hyperglycaemia). Other specific areas of the chart are devoted to prescribing subcutaneous insulin (Routine Insulin Orders, Supplemental Insulin Orders and Stat/Phone Orders) and administering it (Administration Record). The remaining areas are used for additional communication among clinicians.

Later sections of this user guide explain the mechanics of how to use each area of the chart, and will include some rationales for the safety prompts and actions to be taken. Please note that this document is not intended to provide diabetes management advice.

#### Note: This chart is NOT intended to be used for children.

## The national subcutaneous insulin chart

The subcutaneous insulin chart for sub-acute hospitals and mental health facilities is a twosided chart. The two different surfaces of the chart are shown in Figure 1 and Figure 2.

(Affix ident	tification label here)		1	nsuli	n Su	bcu	taneo	ous C	Order	an	d B	loo	d Gl	uco	se R	eco	rd - A	Adult	:	Faci	lity: S	t Lucia	Hosp	ital 1	Ward	/ Unit:	Ward	Þ		Year: 2	20.15
URN: 92384237	NOT A VALID		Stat/	Phon	e Orde	rs (al	lso com	piete A	dminis	tratic	on Re	cord	n														Supp	lemen	tal Ins	sulin	
Family name: Johnson	SCRIPTION UNLESS		Det						Wb	en to	admini	ister	Boo		or odditi				Pho	me	_	Pr	escribe	r	_		Orde	rs			
Given name(s): Tan IDEN	NTIFIERS PRESENT		prescri	bed	Nam	e of insi	ulin	Units	Dat	e	Time (	24 hr	to e	existing	order?	(*)	Order ty	pe (√)	Nurse	als Sig	nature		Pri	int presc	riber na	me	(valid u	ntil chan	ged or	ceased) bould N	OT
Address: 23 Salledy C	rose, Torborough		81	7 F	lumal	og		9 uni	s <b>4</b> 1	7	09	00		leplaces	Add	ional	Stat		851	time J	zuc	jð	3 DI	r Sin	mor	rds	be pres	cribed fo	r all pa	tients.	2
Date of birth: 27/04/1.	.958 Sex: ⊮M ∐F	ЦХ	DD/N	MM				uni	B DD/I	MM	-			leplaces	Add	ional [	Stat [	Phone								_	recomm	iended. C	onsider	basal in	sulin
Patient name: Lass. Johns	01k		DDIN	MM				uni		MM				leplaces leplaces	Add	ional [	Stat	Phone	K	-							Remen	iber: Adju	ist routir	ne insulir	a
ID label has been checked	NIMC has been marked		DD	MM				uni	BD/I	MM				leplaces	Add	ional [	Stat	Phone		_							requirer	n recent : nents.	suppierr	ientai ins	suiin
Doctor to Notify	Monitoring Record																										At the f	ollowing	interva	ls	-
Dr. J. Simmonds.	Date		517	MANd	5		61	M71/;	15			D7	11/2	1/1	5		8	/ \7	11	5 —		-DD/	<b>≯</b> M /	YY				With mea	ls only (	unless N	BM)
	BGL frequency (✓ to select; cross out	Pre-I	meals	21:	00hrs	Pr	re-meals		21:00hrs		Pre	-meals	5	21:	00hrs	<b>∑</b> F	re-meal	s	21:	00hrs	R	re-meals		21:00hr	*		admii	other: hister <u>ada</u>	litional	insulin	as
or Ward doctor	words to cancel)	Othe	розеннова Г	· 🗆 ~ · ·	2.001118		ther:				Oth	er:	110-010		2.00113		ther:			2.001118		ther:		~			specific	ed below BGL rang	(dose d e row).	epends	on
Special Instructions	Diet	Ful	Ę	Nil by	mouth	PF.	all Maria		by mouth					Nil by r	nouth		ull		Nil by I	mouth				by mou	th		Start d	ate and ti	ime		
Cull Du Channel	words to cancel)	Othe	e				ther:			Ľ	Oth	er:		cicui i			ther:		cicui i		Þ	ther:			~	Start Date	7.7	DD / MM D	D <b>/</b> MM D	D / MM DI	D / MM
for insulin doses	ALERTS (24 hr)	1300 17	100 2130	1	: :	0200	0715 12	45 1700	2115	: 0	2000	730 1	230 1	710 21	30 :	0200	0800	1045 11	100 12	200 1715	2145	1 1	:	:	1	Time (24 hr)	11:30	1	:	:	:
and alerts	Test ketones then notify doctor immediately than 20	21	1.2							Т																Greater than 20	8	afou	units	units	units
	Test ketones then notify doctor if positive																									16.1-20	6		unite	inite	unite
	Notify if 3 consecutive 12.1–16 BGI s greater than 12		139				13	5.2 14.5				1	1.2.5	13	5.2											12.1-16	4				
	BGL (mmol/L)	11.5				10.5	12.0			9	1.1 1	1.2								11.9	9.3					8.1–12	2	unis	unis	uns	
V	Write number in 4–8 corresponding range row				-			+	7.9		+	-	1	8.0	-	7.9	6.1	5	8 7	5			-			4-8	175	unts	untsi	unes	unes
	Treat hypoglycaemia Less																	3.1								Less	Name	of insulir	(shouk	d match	the
	and notify doctor									T																ulan 4	rouune	Hun	ralog	iin).	
	Hypoglycaemia intervention ( V) Ketones		e a		+			-		+	+	+	-	-	+		t t	-	+	_	⊢		-				Prescrib	er signatun	e: J	23	
	Doctor polified (//)	- ·	/		+			+		+	+	-		-	+	-		_	+	-	-		+				Print yoi	J Sim	mon	ds	
Nurses must write	Administration Record	(mealtin	me insul	lin is di	iven at s	start o	f meal (	inless (	otherwi	isa si	pecifi	ed in	Sner	rial In	structi	ans)					-								-		-
insulin name (if omitted	Name of routine insulin:		8				8 8	8		T		8	8	8			8			99							16 mil				
time given and initials.	Name of routine insulin:	units u	inits units	units	units unit	s units	units u	nits units	units 24	units	units	units	units	units u	nits uni	ts unit	s units	units	ints i	units unit	a units	units un	nits unit	s units	units		insu	ppiemen lin is ord	ered fo	rt-actinę r the	3
If for any reason	Name of routine insulin:	units u	inits units	units	units unit	s units	units u	nits units	units	units	units	units	units	units	inits uni	ts unit	s units	units	ints 1	units unit	s units	units un	nits unit	s units	units		sam	e time a: Iq insulir	s routin 1. they i	e short- nav be	
be administered	Name of supplemental insulin:	units u	inits units	units	units unit	s units	units u	nits units	units	units	units	units	units 4	units u	nits uni	ts unit	s units	units	ints i	units unit	s units	units un	nits unit	s units	units		give	n togeth	er but n	nust	
registrar or consultant,	Humalog	units u		units	units unit	s units	units u	nits units	units	units	units	units	units	units u	nits uni	ts unit	units	units	inits s	units unit	units	units un	nits unit	s units	units		001	conded	oopurd	coty.	
enter code (W) for withheld and document	Time given (24 hr)	· 1	140 A143 12 C.C.	•		Ŀ,		6 1.00	2150 C/	· /	- 10	1431	LAAD L MZ A	N/ A	14U ·	· /	50	•		5/ /3	1150		<u> </u>	· /	•	Dia	betes	Freatm	ent P	rior to	6
in clinical record.	Nurse 1/2 Initials	ZЙ	apen	//		$\square$	2017	m <b>y</b> zsi	201	4		Not	13.17	KU Z	14/	$\sim$	Krit			KW/	28	VV		$\vee$		Ad	nissio	n			
Routine Insulin Orders	(should not be ordered more)	han 4-r	noale in-	advand	0 - 0145		et cone	ult doel	or if ex	Incot	od de	oro is	e note	ordore	(h)	-					-					Ni	i ins	ilin j	erion	• to .	
Prescriber signature Print your	r name Name of insulin Date	san 4 n	5/7	M / \1		se nitu	6/		or ir ex 1/5	pect	eu do	D <b>7</b>		1/1	د) 5	1	8	/17	11	5-			$\rightarrow$	YY		00	missi	on. I	retfo	rmu	r
Tarelanded Simus	nde Lantus	Brea	ikfart	24	T	Meal or	tme:			M	feal or tir	ne				Meal o	r time:				Mealo	rtme:			/	an	n gli	nazu	ne.		
True formed I Simon	nde Humalon	Meal or tim	e: het	8	TS	Meal or	tme: kfact		s T	3	feal or tr	ne. fact		8	TR	Meal o	rtime:	ĸ	uni por	ne initial	Meal o	ane.		units	1						
Jack J. J. Simmor	nds Humalog	Meal or tim	e:	8	85	Meal or	tme: th		8 J	3	leal or tir	me:		8	T	Meal o	rtime: ch	-	9	TI	Meal or	time		1	initials	Pha	irmacy	Revie	w		
Jundando J. Simmo	rnds Humalog	Meal or tim Dinner	e:	8	T	Dinn	tme: er	+	8 8	3	leal or tir Dinne	ne: r		8	F	Meal o	r time: 101		4 9	85	Meal or	tme:	X	units	Initials						
JanSands J. Simmo	nds Lantus	Meal or tim	e: d	2.	4 85	Meal or Pre-I	tme: bed	2	4 7	3	leal or tir Pre-br	ne: ed		28	85	Meal o	rtme: bed		28	85	Meal of	tme.	Ť	V		81	7 001	MM DO /	MM DC	/ MM D	D/MM
		Meal or tim	e:	un	ts "initial	Meal or	tme:	-	units	N	feal or tir	ne:		uni	te Minita	Meal o	r time:		uni	ts "Fribal	Meal	time:		units		A	0		-		
	Page	2 of 4		un	ts initial				units in	itals				l uni	initia	ie.			uni	ts initial	í.	Page	3 of 4	units	1	1.7	Kala ir	itiate ir	itiata	initials	initials

Figure 1: Inner pages of the national subcutaneous insulin chart (pages 2 and 3 respectively)



#### Figure 2: Outer pages of the national subcutaneous insulin chart (pages 1 and 4 respectively)

## **General requirements and instructions**

The following are general requirements and instructions regarding the use of the National Subcutaneous Insulin Chart:

- All authorised prescribers must order medicines for inpatients in accordance with legislative requirements, according to the relevant state or territory drugs and poisons legislation
- Orders should be reviewed daily and when notifications of out-of-range BGLs occur, to ensure appropriate diabetes management and dosing of insulin
- The chart is to be used for all inpatients requiring subcutaneous insulin and/or BGL monitoring unless ward or unit procedures state otherwise
- A different insulin chart is required for the prescribing, administration and monitoring of intravenous insulin; the subcutaneous insulin chart should never be used for infusions or pumps
- All entries must be written legibly in ink; no matter how accurate or complete an order, it may be misinterpreted if it cannot be read clearly
- Water-soluble ink, such as a fountain pen, should not be used
- Black ink is preferred
- A medication order is valid only if the authorised prescriber enters all the required items
- All information should be printed
- Erasers or 'whiteout' should not be used
- The chart allows orders to be updated daily for five days, after which time the orders must be rewritten on a new chart
- The patient's current hospital and ward location should be clearly marked on the chart (see section 3.3).

## Preparing the chart for use

This section describes the steps required to prepare a national subcutaneous insulin chart for use.

## 3.1 Patient Identification

Before using the chart, prescribers must ensure that the patient identification (ID) details are correct. Patient identification on the National Subcutaneous Insulin Chart is consistent with the identification required when using the national standard medication chart (NSMC) which includes the national inpatient medication chart and the PBS hospital medication chart.

A watermark has been included in the patient identification sections on pages 1 and 2 as a reminder that a prescription is not valid unless the patient's identifiers are present.

Patient identifiers may be added to the chart by one of two methods:

- 1. Attach the current patient ID label in the spaces provided on pages 1 and 2, or
- 2. At a minimum, write the following patient details in legible print
  - a. UR number
  - b. Name (family and given)
  - c. Address
  - d. Date of birth
  - e. Tick the relevant checkbox for the patient's sex (M = male; F = female; X = indeterminate).

Once satisfied that all the ID details relate to the correct patient, the first prescriber to use the chart should attend to the area marked 'First prescriber to complete this box'. Here, the first prescriber should print the patient's name and tick the checkbox marked 'ID label has been checked'. This will reduce the risk of the wrong patient receiving any insulin ordered on the chart. Figure 3 shows an example of a correctly completed patient ID section.

Figure 3: Patient identification section completed correctly

(Affix identification label here)											
URN: 92384237											
Family name: Johnson NOTA VALID											
Given name(s): Ian IDENTIFIERS PRESENT											
Address: 23 Saleby Close, Torborough											
Date of birth: 27/04/1958 Sex: ☑M □ F □ X											
First prescriber to complete this box:											
Patient name: Jan Johnson											

Insulin should not be administered if the prescriber has not completed and checked the patient identification details. If anything is missing, or if the label does not appear to have been checked, the nurse should:

- Contact the prescriber urgently to avoid insulin being withheld unnecessarily
- Contact the doctor on call if the original prescriber is not available.

# **3.2 Cross-referencing the national standard medication chart (NSMC)**

Before using the chart, it is important for the first prescriber to cross-reference it on the NSMC. This is done by ticking the 'BGL/Insulin' box on page 1 of the NSMC. Figure 4 shows an example of how to cross-reference the insulin chart on the NSMC.

Figure 4: Additional medication charts section of the National Standard Medication Charts

Medication	chart num	ber 1
Additional charts	BGL/insulin	Acute pain
Palliative care	Chemotherapy	🗌 IV heparin

This action should also be recorded on the subcutaneous insulin chart, by ticking the checkbox labelled 'NIMC (or NSMC) has been marked'. Figure 5 shows that the NSMC has been cross-referenced on the subcutaneous insulin chart.

Figure 5: Patient identification section marked to indicate that the NIMC has been cross-referenced

(Affix identification label here)								
URN: 92384237								
Family name: Johnson PRESCRIPTION UNLESS								
Given name(s): Ian IDENTIFIERS PRESENT								
Address: 23 Saleby Close, Torborough								
Date of birth: 27/04/1958 Sex: M _ F _ X								
First prescriber to complete this box								
Patient name: <u>Jan. Johnson</u> ID label has been checked INIMC has been marked								

If insulin is to be ordered for the patient, the prescriber should also cross-reference the insulin order in the regular medications section of the NSMC. (Alternatively, a pharmacist or registered nurse may do the cross-referencing.) This will help to ensure insulin is not omitted during the patient's hospital admission or from their discharge medications. This cross-referencing should be done by one of two methods:

1. Attach a pre-printed sticker stating that '*Insulin is ordered for this patient – see Insulin/BGL form*' as shown in Figure 6

Figure 6: National subcutaneous insulin chart cross-referenced on the NSMC

<b>Insulin</b> is ordered for this patient						
see Insulin / BGL form						
ī						

#### 2. Hand-write this information, as shown in Figure 7

Figure 7: Alternative method to cross reference the subcutaneous insulin chart on the NIMC

Date	Medicine (print generic name)		Tick if slow										
Dauta					~					, .		,	
Route	Dose Freque	ncy and NOW enter times			S	ee	11	rs	v	tt	$n_{l}$	<u> </u>	
Indication		Pharmacy				30	iL	. f	or	٢W	V		
Prescriber signature Print your name			Contact										
	•												

#### **3.3 Hospital details**

Prescribers should record the facility name, ward or unit, and year in this section (at the top right-hand side of page 3). Figure 8 shows how this information can be handwritten on the subcutaneous insulin chart. It is permissible to have some of this information pre-printed on the chart.

Figure 8: Hospital details section

Facility: St Lucia Hospital	Ward / Unit: Ward P	Year: 20.15
-----------------------------	---------------------	-------------

#### 3.4 Doctor to notify

The prescriber should document who is to be notified if any alerts are triggered on the chart, or if any other concerns arise regarding the patient's diabetes management. If the 'Doctor to Notify' box (on the left side of page 2) is left blank, the resident medical officer for the treating team must usually be notified. The doctor on call should be notified after hours. An example of this section can be seen in Figure 9.

Figure 9: Doctor to notify in case of emergency or clinical change



#### 3.5 Special instructions

Clinicians may document any additional information related to the patient's diabetes management in the 'Special Instructions' box (on the left side of page 2) as shown in Figure 10.

Figure 10: Special instructions panel

Special Instructions													
Test ketones if BGL > 14													

### 3.6 Diabetes treatment prior to admission

Clinicians should document the patient's previous treatment in the 'Diabetes Treatment Prior to Admission section of the chart' (in the bottom right-hand corner of page 3).

This may include oral hypoglycaemic agents and/or insulin names and doses. Optional additional information may include the insulin device that the patient uses – for example, the type of insulin pen.

Subsequent prescribers should refer to this information when reviewing the patient's response to treatment. A completed example is shown in Figure 11.

Figure 11: Diabetes treatment prior to admission section



# Instructions for monitoring blood glucose levels

This section describes how blood glucose levels should be ordered, recorded and monitored by clinicians.

## 4.1 BGL frequency

Before the BGL frequency can be specified for a particular day, the date should be documented at the top of the relevant 'Date' column in the 'Monitoring Record' section of the chart. This should be done by the first clinician to write in the 'Monitoring Record' column for that day, whether they are a prescriber or a nurse.

Beneath the date, the prescriber can specify the BGL frequency required for that day. Otherwise, the default option is for BGL to be recorded before each meal and at 21:00 hours, as indicated by the checkboxes that are pre-ticked on the chart. Prescribers can select other options by ticking the relevant checkbox. Note that more than one checkbox can be ticked, and unwanted options that have been ticked can be cancelled by crossing them out. Figure 12 shows an example of how to complete this section.

Figure 12: Blood glucose monitoring frequency section



When making these choices, it is important for prescribers to consider whether the patient might require more frequent BGL monitoring than the default options. For example, an additional reading at 02:00 hours could be considered if there is a risk of nocturnal hypoglycaemia or the patient is fasting, or an additional reading two hours after meals might be useful if the patient is pregnant.

## 4.2 Adjusting the chart to accommodate more than six BGLs for a single day

The chart has space for up to six BGLs to be recorded each day for up to five days. If more than six BGLs are required for a single day, the prescriber should also make the following changes to the chart to facilitate this:

• When 7 to 12 BGLs are required, the prescriber should draw a large 'X' through the following day's 'BGL frequency' and 'Diet' areas, and draw an arrow extending from the current date into the middle of the next day's date label area as shown in Figure 13. The same procedure should also be used to modify the Routine Insulin Orders section



Figure 13: Diagram showing how to order 7-12 blood glucose levels per day

• If 13 to 18 BGLs are ordered, these 'X's' should be placed in the next **two** date columns and the arrows extended further as seen in Figure 14.

Figure 14: Diagram showing how to order 13 to 18 blood glucose levels per day



If these changes are not made by the prescriber, or if the patient's monitoring requirements change at a later time, nurses may also make these alterations to the chart.

## 4.3 What to do if BGL readings fall out of alignment with routine insulin orders

In some hospitals, patients have their weekend insulin orders written up in advance. In these facilities, there is a risk that the BGLs recorded on the chart will fall out of alignment with the routine insulin orders below. This could happen if there is an unplanned increase in the frequency of BGL monitoring – for example, because of a hypoglycaemic event.

In such cases, nurses should still document all the BGL readings on the subcutaneous insulin chart, even if they spill over into columns provided for the following day(s), where routine orders have already been prescribed. When this happens, the nurse should cross out all the routine insulin doses that have not yet been administered, and contact the prescriber to review the orders. Figure 15 shows a detailed example of this scenario.

If the prescriber cannot attend the patient, a phone order should be taken and recorded in the 'Stat/Phone Orders' section and cross-referenced in the 'Routine Insulin Orders' section.

Figure 15: Diagram showing how to record additional telephone orders and how to record more blood glucose levels than ordered



### **4.4 Diet**

Underneath the 'BGL frequency' row is a separate 'Diet' row for documenting the diet that the patient is to receive for the day. This includes checkboxes for full diet, nil by mouth, total parenteral nutrition (TPN) and clear fluids. Either the prescriber or a nurse can record these details. It should be completed as shown in Figure 16.

As well as acting as a record, this information provides a prompt for reassessment of insulin needs should the patient be fasting for a procedure or have altered dietary requirements.

Figure 16: Daily diet section

Date	5) / 17M / 15
BGL frequency	✓ Pre-meals ✓ 21:00hrs
(✓ to select; cross out words to cancel)	2hrs post-meals At 02:00hrs
	Other:
Diet	Full Nil by mouth
(✓ to select; <del>cross out</del>	TPN Clear fluids
words to cancel)	Other:

# Monitoring blood glucose levels and responding to alerts

This section describes how to monitor blood glucose levels (BGLs) and how to respond appropriately when BGLs do not fall in the accepted range.

## 5.1 Recording BGLs

BGLs are recorded in the Monitoring Record section of the chart.

To record a BGL:

- Document the date at the top of the current 'Date' column (if blank)
- Document the diet that the patient is to receive for the day in the 'Diet' row (if blank)
- Document the time when the BGL is measured in the next available time cell for the current day; if it is the first BGL of the day, make sure that it is recorded under the correct date that is, skip over any blank time columns left over from the previous day
- Measure the patient's BGL according to local procedure and complete the record as shown in Figure 17
- Enter the BGL into the chart, taking care to record the BGL in the row that corresponds to its value (there are six rows in which to record BGLs, with ranges written on the left and right); act **immediately** on any instructions in the ALERTS section that align with that row (see section 5.2).

Figure 17: Diagram showing how blood glucose levels should be recorded on the monitoring record

	Monitoring Reco	rd									
		Date		DS) / M		15					
	BGL fr (✓ to select; words to	requency pross out p cancel)	✓ Pre-meals     ✓ 21:00hrs       2hrs post-meals     At 02:00hrs       Other:								
	(✓ to select; words to	Diet <del>cross out</del> cancel)	Fi Fi	ıll PN	Nil b Clea	oy mou ar fluid:	ıth s				
	ALERTS	Time (24 hr)	1300	1700 2130	:	:	:				
	Test ketones then notify doctor immediately	Greater than 20		21.2							
	Test ketones then notify doctor if positive	16.1–20									
	Notify if 3 consecutive BGLs greater than 12	12.1–16		13.9							
В	GL (mmol/L)	8.1–12	11.5								
CC V	rite number in prresponding range row	4–8									
	Treat hypoglycaemia (see Page 4)	Less than 4									
	Hypoglycaemia interve	ntion (✔)									

Two of the rows for recording BGLs do not have any coloured shading. Unless modified (see section 5.3), these rows correspond to the 4 to 8 and 8.1 to 12 mmol/L ranges. If the BGL falls within these ranges, a doctor does not need to be notified unless it has been requested in the Special Instructions, or if the nurse has specific concerns. This is because the target range for most inpatients on general wards who are receiving subcutaneous insulin and/or oral treatments is 4 to 10 mmol/L, with up to 12 mmol/L usually regarded as acceptable.

## 5.2 Alerts

The chart has a number of alerts embedded within it. If a BGL is recorded within a shaded row, consult the instructions in the ALERTS section that align with that row, and act on them **immediately**. This section outlines the standard actions and notifications required for each shaded row.

#### The purple row (hypoglycaemia)

If the patient's BGL is less than 4 mmol/L, it will fall within the purple range row, which indicates hypoglycaemia and a potential emergency. If this occurs, several actions are required of the nurse:

- Initiate hypoglycaemia treatment as per the Guidelines for Treating Hypoglycaemia flow diagram (on page 4 of the chart), ensuring that the patient's safety is maintained at all times; if the patient is unconscious or not cooperative, it is an emergency situation
- Notify the treating prescriber or doctor on call at the point specified in the flow diagram, and then place a tick in the 'Doctor notified' row in the Monitoring Record
- After following the flow diagram all the way to the end, place a tick in the 'Hypoglycaemia intervention' row in the Monitoring Record section
- Perform follow-up BGLs as specified in the treatment flow diagram and respond accordingly (see section 11.1)
- Document the hypoglycaemia treatment and response in the medical record, and in the 'Comments' section of the Administration Record as required.

#### The other coloured rows (hyperglycaemia)

The other coloured ranges indicate elevated BGLs, and each level of elevation requires a different response.

#### The red row

If the patient's BGL is greater than 20 mmol/L, it will fall within the red range row. In this case, the nurse should:

- Perform a urine or blood ketone test (according to local procedure), and document the result in the 'Ketones' row
  - If a urine ketone test is performed, the result is documented as '**neg**' if no ketones are present or as a '+' or '++' etc., as indicated on the urine ketone test strip bottle
  - If a blood ketone test is performed, the result is documented as a number for example, '0.6' or '1.4'
- Notify the treating prescriber or doctor on call immediately, **regardless of the ketone result**, and then place a tick in the 'Doctor notified' row in the Monitoring Record
- Document the actions taken and further relevant information in the 'Comments' section of the Administration Record, and in the medical record.

#### The orange row

If the patient's BGL falls within the orange range row (usually 16.1 to 20 mmol/L unless modified), the nurse should:

- Perform a ketone test, and document the result in the 'Ketones' row (as above)
- If the ketone result is positive, notify the treating prescriber or doctor on call immediately, and then place a tick in the 'Doctor notified' row in the Monitoring Record
- Document the actions taken and further relevant information in the 'Comments' section of the Administration Record, and in the medical record.

#### The yellow row

If the patient's BGL falls within the yellow range row (usually 12.1 to 16 mmol/L unless modified) the required response varies.

A single elevated BGL that falls in the yellow range row does not require any special action.

However, action is required if the patient has had three or more consecutive BGLs greater than 12 mmol/L, which may have fallen in any combination of the yellow, orange and red rows. In such cases, the nurse should:

- Notify the treating prescriber or doctor on call immediately, and then place a tick in the 'Doctor notified' row in the Monitoring Record
- Document the actions taken and further relevant information in the 'Comments' section of the Administration Record, and in the medical record.

### **5.3 Modified BGL ranges**

Some conditions – for example, pregnancy – may require tighter control of BGL. For these patients, a senior doctor may choose to modify some of the ranges printed on the chart. They can do this by crossing out the relevant numbers on both the left and right, and replacing them with handwritten ranges. Such modifications effectively change the thresholds for both alerts (see section 5.2) and doses of supplemental insulin (see section 6.2). A worked example of this scenario is shown in Figure 18.

If handwritten modifications result in any ambiguity, the nurse must contact the doctor to correct the chart. This includes situations where:

- The handwritten range only appears on one side of the chart
- There is a mismatch between the handwritten ranges on the left and right
- Two ranges overlap
- There is a gap between two ranges
- BGLs had already been recorded on the chart prior to modification.

Note that these modifications should always be made **before** any BGLs have been recorded on the chart. If the chart has already been used, a new chart must be started instead.

Such modifications should not be common because only highly experienced insulin prescribers can make them safely.

cord																																	At
GL frequ ect; <del>oros</del> <sup>.</sup> ds to ca	Date ency <del>s out</del> ncel)	P 2 0	re-me hrs pos	als st-meal	7 / /	21:00H At 02:0	irs )0hrs	✓ P 21 0	re-mea hrs pos ther:	⊃ / Ⅳ als st-meal	1M /	21:00h At 02:0	rs IOhrs	✓ P 21	re-me hrs pos	D / M als st-meal	s _/	21:00h At 02:0	rs Ohrs	✓ F 2 0	Pre-me hrs pos	D / M als st-meal	/IM / ✓: Is □/	21:00h At 02:0	rs Ohrs	✓ P 21	re-me hrs pos	D / N als st-mea	IM 7 ✓: Is □ 7	21:00hr At 02:00	rs Ohrs		a spe cur
ect; <del>eres</del> 'ds to ca	)iet <del>∋ut</del> :el)	F T C	ull PN other: .	[	Nil Cle	by moi ar fluic	uth Is		ull PN ther:	]	Nil I Cle	by mou ar fluid	uth s	F	ull PN ther:		Nil I Clea	oy mou ar fluid	ith s	F   T   C	ull PN 9ther: .	[	Nil k	oy mou ar fluid	ith s	Fi	ull PN ther: .	[	Nil E Clea	iy mou ar fluids	th s	151 D	<u>Sta</u>
	P - 0)	1	:	:	:	:	:	- : -	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	- :	:	:	1	:	:	:	:	:	- :		1
tely that	eater an 20																															Greater than 20	
tive 15.	<del>1-20</del> 1-20																															<del>16.1-20</del> 15.1-20	
tive 42.	1-18																															<del>12.1-18</del>	
- <del>9.</del>	1-12-																															8.1-12	
<u></u> .	4-8																															4-8	init
mia ∋4)th	Less nan 4																															Less than 4	Na
ctor erventior	n (🗸 )																																Pre
Ket	ones																																Dele
>r notifie	d (√)																																-11
n Rec	ord	(mea	Itime	e insu	lin is	give	n at s	start o	of me	al un	less (	other	wise	spec	ified	in Sp	ecial	Instr	uctio	ns)													

Figure 18: Diagram showing how to modify blood glucose ranges if necessary

## **Ordering insulin**

Insulin orders are divided into three sections on the chart: Routine Insulin Orders, Supplemental Insulin Orders and Stat/Phone Orders. The location of each section has been carefully chosen to reduce the risk of administration errors. Patients may require any combination of routine, supplemental and stat/phone orders.

If no insulin is prescribed for a patient with diabetes, the chart should still be used for BGL monitoring as the alerts and notification prompts will still apply.

Each hospital will have its own specific chart for intravenous insulin, and the subcutaneous insulin chart should never be used for insulin infusions or pumps.

## 6.1 Routine insulin orders

The Routine Insulin Orders section (at the bottom of pages 2 and 3) has been designed to align with the date columns used in the Monitoring Record and Administration Record.

Routine Insulin Orders	s (should not b	be ordered m	nore that	an 4 meals in a	dvance	- nurs	e must consult o	loctor i	fexpe	cted dose is not	ordered	)						
Prescriber signature Print y	our name Nam	e of insulin	Date	5/7	1/123	5	6 / M	115		D <b>7/</b> M	1125		D <b>8</b> ) / M	M / \1	5 ~	0010	NY NS	
			м	leal or time:	units	initials	Meal or time:	units	initials	Meal or time:	units	initials	Meal or time:	units	initials	Meal or time:	units	
Jane Jund's J. Simm	onds Hu	malog	M E	leal or time: Breakfast	units	initials	Meal or time: Breakfast	8 units	85	Meal or time: Breakfast	8 units	TS	Meal or time: Breakfast	phon	e initials	Meal or kine: Breakfast	unts	initials
Jack- J. Simm	onds Hu	imalog	M L	leal or time: .unch	units	initials	Meal or time: Lunch	8 units	FS	Meal or time: Lunch	8 units	FS	Meal or time: Lunch	<b>9</b>	FS	Meal or time: Lunch	units	initials
Janepend's J. Simm	ronds Hu	malog	M D	leal or time: Dinner	8 units	FS	Meal or time: Dinner	8 units	85	Meal or time: Dinner	8 units	FS	Meal or time: Dinner	9 units	85	Meal or time: Dinner	units	initials
JanSands J. Simm	onds La	antus	M F	leal or time: Pre-bed	24	85	Meal or time: Pre-bed	24 units	J.	Meal or time: Pre-bed	28 units	85	Meal or time: Pre-bed	28 units	85	Meal or time: Pre-bed	units	initials
			м	leal or time:	unite	initials	Meal or time:	unite	initials	Meal or time:	unite	initials	Meal or time:	unite	initials	Meal of time:	unite	

Figure 19: Diagram showing a completed regular insulin orders section

For each day, there are six rows in which routine insulin doses can be prescribed. Each dose is prescribed in a different row according to the time when it is to be administered. Figure 19 shows an example of a completed routine insulin orders section.

Note that routine insulin orders are **not recurrent**, so routine insulin must be ordered separately for each day. When writing up doses, it is appropriate to prescribe for up to four meals in advance – for example, for the rest of the present day plus the first dose(s) for the following day. In some circumstances, it may also be appropriate to write up insulin doses for several days, but only if the patient's BGLs have been acceptable and stable in the range of 4 to 12 mmol/L.

Standard administration times are pre-printed in four of the six rows, namely:

- Breakfast
- Lunch
- Dinner
- Pre-bed.

When these standard administration times are used, all mealtime insulin doses are to be given immediately before the patient eats, when their meal is in front of them. This includes insulins with a 15–30 minute delay in onset of action.

**Rationale:** In the hospital setting, meal delivery times are variable and if a meal is delayed after insulin has been administered, hypoglycaemia may result.

Prescribers have the option of crossing out a standard administration time label and writing a specific 24-hour time in the adjacent space instead – see Figure 20.

Figure 20: Diagram showing how to amend standard meal times if required

Meal or time:		
	units	initials
Meal or time:		
Breakfast	units	initials
Meal or time:		
Lunch	units	initials
Meal or time:		
Dinner	units	initials
Pre-bod 21:00	units	initials
Meal or time:		
	units	initials

There are also two rows – at the top and bottom – that are not pre-labelled with standard administration times. These can be used when a patient requires two insulin types at a single meal or time – for example, if a patient receives both their basal insulin and mealtime insulin at breakfast.

#### Ordering routine insulin

To order routine insulin, the prescriber must:

- Consider whether any modifications to the patient's BGL frequency are required, if not done already (see section 4.1), noting that the desired BGL frequency for each day must be specified if frequency deviates from the pre-ticked default options; if more than six BGLs are requested per day, it is important to adjust the chart accordingly before prescribing for the following day to ensure that the order is recorded in the correct column (see section 4.2)
- Write the date that the dose is to be administered at the top of the relevant column in the Routine Insulin Orders section; if the chart is already in use, take care to ensure that any dates in the Routine Insulin Orders section match those in the corresponding columns of the Monitoring Record
- Find the appropriate row for the order for example, the second row if ordering a breakfast dose and write the **full trade/brand name** of the insulin to be administered in the 'Name of insulin' column
  - For a premixed insulin, specify the insulin type in full for example, 'Mixtard 30/70', 'Humalog Mix 25' and 'NovoMix 30'
  - The use of truncations for example, 'Mixtard' and 'Humalog Mix' means that the order is incomplete and the nurse is not allowed to administer it.
  - **Rationale:** Trade names are preferred for insulin prescribing to avoid confusion, as there are many look-alike or sound-alike generic insulin names which are not interchangeable. Additionally, wherever possible, the patient should receive the brand of insulin that they use or will be using at home.
- Write the number of units ordered as a whole number in the cell immediately to the right of the relevant meal or time; the word 'units' is pre-printed
  - **Do not** write 'U' or 'IU' as these abbreviations can cause serious dose administration errors for example, '5u' may be interpreted as 50 units
  - For more information on this point, refer to the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care document entitled *Recommendations for Terminology, Abbreviations and Symbols Used in the Prescribing and Administration of Medicines*
- Initial in the grey shaded cell to the right of the dose cell (where 'initials' is watermarked see Figure 21)
- Sign each order in the leftmost column

- Print full name at least once per chart
- If not already done write the **full trade or brand name**, of each insulin to be administered, in one of the cells in the Administration Record containing the prompt 'Name of routine insulin' (see section 6.4).

Figure 21: How to prescribe the number of units of insulin to be administered

6 / M7	115	
Meal or time:		,
5	units	initials
Meal or time:	~	11
Breakfast	8 units	05
Meal or time:	0	TI
Lunch	8 units	83
Meal or time:	0	-11
Dinner	8 units	05
Meal or time:	21	-U
Pre-bed	24 units	Initials
Meal or time:		1

If the patient has been receiving insulin and an expected dose has not been ordered for the next meal or time, the nurse must call the treating prescriber or the doctor on call for a phone order (see section 6.3.2). If a phone order is placed, the nurse must document it in the Stat/Phone Orders section and write 'phone' in the appropriate dose box in the Routine Insulin Orders section as a cross-reference.

A new chart must be written by the prescriber after five days, or when there is no space left to order doses or record BGLs.

#### Ceasing routine insulin orders

If a prescriber decides to change a patient's insulin regimen (not just a dose change, which can be facilitated on the chart), the prescriber must not overwrite the original order. Instead, the original order must be ceased and a new order written on a new subcutaneous insulin chart. See Figure 22 for a worked example.

To cease a routine insulin order for any reason, the prescriber must draw a clear line through the order, taking care that the line does not obliterate the original order or other orders. The prescriber must write the reason for changing the order – for example, 'cease, change to insulin regimen' – and the date the order was changed, then initial.

**Note:** The abbreviation 'D/C' (that is, discontinued) should not be used for ceased orders since this can be confused with 'discharge'. Always use 'cease'.

na niatura an anna ittant			units units	units units	units units	units unit	s units	units units	units	u
enter code W for	Time given	(24 hr) ()	7:30 13:00 1	7:15 21:30	: :	: :	:	: :	:	:
withheld and document in clinical record.	Nurse 1/2	initials 8	Fun Stint	King Aling					$\square$	
	Cor	nments								
Routine Insulin Orders (s	hould not be ordered	more tha	an 4 meals	in advan	ce - nurs	e must co	onsult d	octor if	expec	cte
Prescriber signature Print your r	name Name of insulin	Date	5	17/12	5		61N7	115		
		м	eal or time:			Meal or time:				Mea
			aal or time:	ur	its initials	Mool or time:		units	initials	Mor
Jansunds J.Simmon	rds Humalog	B	Breakfast	8	85	Breakfas		8 units	85	Br
Ja Same J.Simmor	rds Humalog	M	eal or time:	8	TI	Meal or time:	chang	e,.		Mea
52.00 03			alectime	ur	its mitials	Lanch	to ins	Minis	initials	Lu
Jan J.Simmor	rds Humalog	D	inner	8	TS	Dinner	regum	1 Sinits	initials	Di
T & Simono	de lantur	M	eal or time:	2	4 11	Meal or time:	1	15		Mea
Jangung J.Sunnor	us Lungus	P	re-bed	~	its O)	Pre-bed	0	units	initials	Pr
		M	eal or time:	- Cit		Meal or time:	-	GIIIG		Mea
				ur	its initials			units	initials	

Figure 22: How to correctly cease and insulin order

#### Patients who self-administer insulin

Some patients may calculate the amount of subcutaneous insulin that they require based on their carbohydrate intake, and then self-administer. This can be documented on the subcutaneous insulin chart as shown in Figure 23.

First, describe the procedure in the 'Special Instructions' box. Then, note it in the Routine Insulin Orders section, and cross-reference the 'Special Instructions' box as shown below.

Figure 23: Diagram showing how to provide instructions for patients who self-administer insulin based on their carbohydrate intake

Special Instructions		(✓ to select; words to	Diet oross-out o cancel)	FL TFL	ull PN ther:		Nil b Clea	y mou ar fluid	ith s	
Patient		ALERTS	Time	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
actermines and	Test I	ketones then notify	Greater							
auministery	Test i	ketones then notify	16.1-20							
NavoRapid	Not	ify if 3 consecutive	12.1–16							
according to	BGL	sLs greater than 12	8.1–12							
carbohudrate	Write nu	mber in Inding range row	4-8							
intake	Tr	eat hypoglycaemia	Less							
1 unit per 10	-	(see Page 4) and notify doctor	than 4				_			
grams CHO.	Нур	oglycaemia interve	ntion (🗸 )	<u> </u>						$\vdash$
5,			Ketones							
		Doctor no	tified (√)							
Nurses must write insulin name (if omitted	Adn	ninistration R	ecord	(mea	ltime	insu	lin is	give	n at s	tart
by doctor), dose given, time given and initials	Name	of routine insulin:		units	units	units	units	units	units	uni
If for any reason	Name	of routine insulin.		units	units	units	units	units	units	uni
insulin cannot be administered	Name	or routine insulin:	-	units	units	units	units	units	units	uni
as ordered, notify	Name	of supplemental insu	ulin:	units	units	units	units	units	units	uni
enter code W for		Time giv	en (24 hr)		:	:	:	:	:	:
withheld and document		Nurse '	1/2 initials							/
		c	omments		~	~	V	~	~	
Routine Insulin Order	'S (shoul	d not be ordered	d more t	han 4	l mea	ls in	adva	nce -	nurs	e m
Prescriber signature Print	your name	Name of insulin	Date	Σ	05	<b>7 /</b> M	7473	15		
Jansund J.Simn	ronds	Novorapid	L	Meal or Sna	time: CKS	dala	Patie	nt	B	Meal
Jansmit J.Simn	ronds	Novorapid	L	Meal or Brea	time: kfast	dos	e – j	ee 1	R	Meal Bre
Januar J.Simn	ronds	Novorapid	L	Meal or	time:		speci	al .	TI	Meal
To & S J.Simn	rondi	Novorapi	d	Meal or	time:	nstri	abo	ny ve	FI	Meal
To & S ISimon	ronde	Lantu	,	Meal or	time:		2	units	A	Meal
Jangungs 5.50mm	21009	2000 01009		Pre-I Meal or	time:		+	units	05	Pre Meal
								units	initials	

## 6.2 Supplemental insulin orders

The Supplemental Insulin Orders section (at the top right of page 3) has been designed to align with the BGL range rows used in the Monitoring Record. It allows prescribers to order different quantities of insulin for each range row, which will be administered in addition to the patient's routine mealtime or basal insulin doses. Figure 24 shows how the Supplemental Insulin Orders section aligns with the alert rows.



Figure 24: Diagram showing how to order supplemental insulin

It is **not necessary** for all patients to have supplemental insulin prescribed. It may be considered if:

- · Glycaemic control has been erratic and strict control is desirable
- The patient's condition, dietary intake or a concurrent medication is altering their insulin requirements
- The patient has recently commenced subcutaneous insulin and optimal doses have not yet been determined.

A supplemental insulin order **remains valid until changed or ceased**. This contrasts with routine insulin orders, where doses must be ordered for each day.

**Rationale:** Routine doses should be adjusted daily in response to the BGLs and the amount of supplemental insulin required in the previous 24 hours. The patient's requirement for supplemental insulin should reduce as routine insulin doses are adjusted.

However, supplemental orders are **not** valid beyond the life of the current chart. When a new chart is started, supplemental orders must be either:

- Ordered on the new chart, if supplemental insulin is to be continued, or
- Ceased on the expiring chart, to communicate the intention that the patient is no longer to receive supplemental insulin.

#### Box 1 Recommendation

## Standalone sliding scale insulin is not recommended as sole insulin therapy. Basal insulin requirements should be considered.

It is important to note that supplemental insulin (or 'correctional insulin') is **NOT a standalone sliding scale insulin strategy**. Rather, it is a short-acting insulin given in addition to a patient's routine insulin to cover unexpected hyperglycaemia which has occurred despite the patient's regular basal or basal and mealtime insulin regimen. In contrast, standalone sliding scale strategies involve intermittent short-acting insulin given in response to BGLs without any background basal or mixed insulin.

#### Ordering supplemental insulin

To order supplemental insulin, the prescriber must:

- Tick the relevant checkbox to indicate the intervals at which the additional insulin is to be administered
- 'With meals only' if the patient is tolerating an oral diet, or
- 'Other', and specify the relevant times (24-hour) and/or meals
- Write the start date and start time (24-hour) for the order in the first available column
- Write the 'Name of insulin' to be administered in the space provided; usually, if the patient is receiving rapid or short-acting routine insulin with meals, the same type of insulin is prescribed as supplemental insulin
- Enter the number of units of supplemental insulin to be prescribed **for each BGL range** 
  - Each dose should be written as a whole number; the word 'units' has been preprinted in each dosage cell as shown in Figure 25
  - On page 1, there is a table containing suggested initial doses that vary according to the patient's previous total daily dose or (if not previously on insulin) their weight (see section 10), colour-coded for ease of transcription; however, these suggested doses may not be appropriate if the BGL alert ranges have been modified in the Monitoring Record, which effectively changes the thresholds for both the BGLrelated alerts and the administration of supplemental insulin
  - See section 5.3 for details of the modification procedure required, but note that it is strongly recommended that prescribers do **not** make these modifications unless they are highly experienced with managing insulin
- Initial beneath the column of doses
- Sign the order and print full name in the spaces provided.

Figure 25: Diagram showing prescribers how to complete the supplemental insulin section correctly



• If not already done, write the **full trade or brand name** of the supplemental insulin in the Administration Record cell containing the prompt 'Name of supplemental insulin' (see section 6.4); this row has been shaded blue to link it to the Supplemental Insulin Orders section. An example is shown in Figure 26

Figure 26: Diagram showing the addition of the supplemental insulin brand name to the administration record section



Note that supplemental doses can be amended as required by completing further columns. Changes are validated as of the start date by initialling at the bottom of the column.

#### Ceasing supplemental insulin orders

To cease a supplemental order, the prescriber should draw a diagonal line through the order, document the reason for change, sign and date. The correct way to annotate the chart when ceasing an order is shown in Figure 27.

Figure 27: Diagram showing the correct way to cease a supplemental insulin order



## 6.3 Stat/Phone insulin orders

All stat or phone orders for single doses of insulin are recorded in the Stat/Phone Orders section. It has been positioned at the top of pages 2 and 3 to reduce the risk that a stat or phone order will be missed. An example of a completed telephone order is shown in Figure 28.

Administration of the stat or phone insulin dose is documented in the Administration Record section along with routine doses (see sections 7.3 and 7.4).

Figure 28: Diagram showing how to record insulin orders in the telephone or stat order section

Stat/Pho	one Orders (also com	plete Ad	ministrat	ion Record)				
Date	Name of insulin	Units	When to	administer	Replaces or additional	Order type (✓)	Phone order:	Prescriber
prescribed			Date	Time (24 hr)	to existing order? (*)		initials	Signature Print prescriber name
517	NovoMix 30	4Qunits	517	09:00	Replaces Additional	Stat Phone		Jansund's J. Simmondy
DD/MM		units	DD/MM	:	Replaces Additional	Stat Phone		-
DD/MM		units	DD/MM	:	Replaces Additional	Stat Phone		
DD/MM		units	DD/MM	:	Replaces Additional	Stat Phone		
DD/MM		units	DD/MM	:	Replaces Additional	Stat Phone		

#### 6.3.1 Stat orders

Stat doses of insulin may be ordered for several reasons, including out-of-range BGLs. They must always be documented on the subcutaneous insulin chart, not in the stat/phone order section of the NSMC, even if the patient has no other insulin orders.

To order a stat dose, the prescriber should:

- Enter the date prescribed, the insulin name and the number of units ordered (as a whole number) in the corresponding columns
- Enter the intended date and time of administration in the 'When to administer' column
- Tick the relevant checkbox to indicate whether the order replaces an existing order, or is additional to existing orders
- Tick the 'Stat' checkbox
- Sign and print full name
- Verbally inform the nurse responsible for the patient's care so that the stat dose is not missed at the required administration time.

#### 6.3.2 Phone orders

If a registered nurse takes a phone order for any insulin dose – that is, routine or due to an out-of-range BGL – they must document the order in the Stat/Phone Orders section. Phone orders should then be signed by the prescriber (or otherwise confirmed in writing) within 24 hours, in accordance with local procedure and state or territory legislation.

To record a phone order, the nurse should:

- Enter the date prescribed, the insulin name and the number of units ordered (as a whole number) in the corresponding columns
- Enter the intended date and time of administration in the 'When to administer' column
- Tick the relevant checkbox to indicate whether the order replaces an existing or expected order, or is additional to existing orders
- Tick the 'Phone' checkbox
- Print the prescribing doctor's name

- Initial in the space provided for 'Nurse 1'
- Get a second nurse to
- a. read the written order back to the prescriber to confirm that it is correct
- b. countersign in the space provided for 'Nurse 2'.

A completed example of a telephone order including two signatures is shown in Figure 29.

Figure 29: Diagram showing how to correctly record a new insulin order given over the telephone to two nurses

Stat/Pho	one Orders (also com	plete Ad	ministrati	on Record)					
Date	Name of insulin	Units	When to	administer	Replaces or additional	Order type (✓)	Phone order:	Pres	criber
prescribed			Date	Time (24 hr)	to existing order? (*)	ondon type ( )	initials	Signature	Print prescriber name
8 / 7	Humalog	9 <sub>units</sub>	8 / 7	08:00	Replaces Additional	Stat Phone	SE TMP	Janefunds	Dr Simmonds
DD/MM		units	DD/MM	:	Replaces Additional	Stat Phone			
DD/MM		units	DD/MM	:	Replaces Additional	Stat Phone			
DD/MM		units	DD/MM	:	Replaces Additional	Stat Phone			
DD/MM		units	DD/MM	:	Replaces Additional	Stat Phone			

- If the phone order replaces an existing or expected routine insulin order, crossreference it in the Routine Insulin Orders section as shown in Figure 30
  - In the case of an existing order, cross out the original dose and write the words 'see phone' in the adjacent box labelled 'Meal or time'

Figure 30: Diagram showing how to correctly record an insulin order given over the telephone to two nurses that replaces an existing insulin order

Routine Insulin Orders (sho	Id not be ordered more	than 4 meals in ad	vance - nurs	e must consult d	octor if expe	cted dose is not or	dered)				
Prescriber signature Print your nam	e Name of insulin Dat	S / M	115	6/17	/15	DZ/NZA.	115	D8)/1\77/1/	15	DD / MM	I YY
		Meal or time:	units initials	Meal or time:	units initials	Meal or time:	units initials	Meal or time:	units initia)	Meal or time:	units initials
Jane Jumod's J. Simmonds	Humalog	Meal or time: Breakfast	units initials	Meal or time: Breakfast	8 FI	Meal or time: Breakfast	8 FS	Meal or time: see Breakfast phone	XJI	$\leftarrow$	units initials
Jack-Js J. Simmonds	Humalog	Meal or time: Lunch	units initials	Meal or time: Lunch	8 FI	Meal or time: Lunch	8 8	Meal or time: Lunch	units initial		units initials
Jackends J. Simmondy	Humalog	Meal or time: Dinner	8 FS	Meal or time: Dinner	8 FI	Meal or time: Dinner	8 J	Meal or time: Dinner	units initials	Meal or time: Dinner	units initials
Jan Jam Js J. Simmonds	Lantus	Meal or time: Pre-bed	24 85	Meal or time: Pre-bed	24 J	Meal or time: Pre-bed	28 85	Meal or time: Pre-bed	units initials	Meal or time: Pre-bed	units initials
		Meal or time:		Meal or time:		Meal or time:		Meal or time:		Meal or time:	

- If the phone order replaces an expected routine insulin order, write the word 'phone' in the appropriate dose box as shown in Figure 31.

Figure 31: Diagram showing how to replace an expected routine insulin order with an order given by telephone to two nurses

<b>Routine Insulin</b>	Orders (should	d not be ordered	more t	han 4 meals in	advance	e - nurs	se must consult (	doctor i	fexpe	cted dose is not	ordere	d)						
Prescriber signature	Print your name	Name of insulin	Date	> 5/1	M / \4	5	6 / M	115		DZ/MZ	1/14	5	D8 / N7	1114	5	DD/MN	///YY	
				Meal or time:			Meal or time:			Meal or time:			Meal or time:					
				Meal or time:	unit	initials	Meal or time:	units	initials	Meal or time:	units	initials	Meal or time:	units	initials		units	initials
Jane June S. J.	Simmonds	Humalog		Breakfast	unit	initials	Breakfast	8 units	83	Breakfast	8 units	J.	Breakfast	ph	one	$\leftarrow$	units	initials
Tarelande J.	Simmonds	Humalog		Meal or time:			Meal or time:	8	TS	Meal or time:	8	TS	Meal or time:			unon		
				Lunch	unit	initials	Lanch	units	Chitials	Lunch	units	Ortials	Lunch	units	initials	Lunch	units	initials
Jacpuds J	. Simmonds	Humalog		Dinner	8 units	J'	Dinner	8 units	85	Dinner	8 units	TS	Dinner	units	initials	Dinner	units	initials
Jangendy J.	Simmonds	Lantus		Meal or time: Pre-bed	2.4	85	Meal or time: Pre-bed	24 units	FS	Meal or time: Pre-bed	28 units	85	Meal or time: Pre-bed	units	initials	Meal or time: Pre-bed	units	initials
				Meal or time:		i - N - I	Meal or time:			Meal or time:			Meal or time:			Meal or time:		in Martin

## 6.3.3 What to do if there are too many phone orders to fit into the phone order section

In some hospitals, a large number of insulin orders are given over the phone – often too many for the five spaces provided in the 'Stat/Phone Orders' section. As a result, these hospitals may choose to authorise nurses to record phone orders in the 'Routine Insulin Orders' section instead.

Figure 32: Diagram showing how two nurses may use the routine orders section to record additional telephone orders

cted dose is not o	ordered	3)
<b>47/</b> M <b>7</b>	1/143	2
Meal or time:		N
5	units	initials
Meal or time:	0	phone N
Breakfast 81/MM	8 units	NS 1
Meal or time:	0	phone
<sub>s</sub> Lunch צוי∕™	∆ units	TSI
Meal or time: C.P./WM	0	phones
Dinner SV WY	o units	831
Meal or time:	21	phone N
<b>Pre-bed</b> ≥ſ∕MŊ	units	83 1
Meal or time:		N
S	units	initials

As with other phone orders, two nurses should document the order, with the second nurse reading it back to the prescriber to make sure that it has been recorded correctly. A completed example of such an order in the routine insulin order section is shown in Figure 32.

The first nurse should record the dose ordered in the box labelled 'units' and write the word 'phone' at the top of the 'initials' box provided for the prescriber. Both nurses should sign their initials in the box labelled 'Meal or time'. When next attending the patient, the prescriber should initial underneath the word 'phone', ideally within 24 hours.

However, if there is already an order written in the 'Routine Insulin Orders' section, then the phone order should be recorded in the 'Stat/Phone Orders' section and cross-referenced in the 'Routine Insulin Orders' section, as explained above (see section 6.3.2). Otherwise, it would become unreadable.

Hospitals that allow phone orders to be recorded in the 'Routine Insulin Orders' section should have a policy in place outlining the required practice, and should ensure that nurses are adequately trained in it.

## 6.4 Administration record

Immediately after prescribing insulin, the prescriber should write the **full trade or brand name** of the insulin in one of the cells in the Administration Record section containing the prompt 'Name of routine insulin' or 'Name of supplemental insulin' (as appropriate), if this has not already been done as shown in Figure 33.

Trade names are preferred when prescribing insulin to avoid confusion (as discussed in section 6.1).

Figure 33: Trade or brand names of insulins prescribed are written in the Administration Record section

Administration Record	(mea
Name of routine insulin: Humalog	units
Name of routine insulin:	units
Name of routine insulin:	units
Name of supplemental insulin: Humalog	units

#### Box 2 Recommendation

#### A nurse or pharmacist may write the insulin trade name on the administration record.

If the prescriber has not written the insulin trade name and the patient requires an insulin dose, a registered nurse or pharmacist may write the full trade name in these rows. An example is shown in Figure 33.

# Administering insulin and documenting administration

All insulin doses should be prepared and administered according to local procedure, and documented in the Administration Record.

Administration Record	(mea	ltime	insu	lin is	giver	n at s	tart o	f mea	al uni	ess d	other	vise	speci	ified i	n Sp	ecial	Instru	ictio	ns)											
Name of routine insulin: Humalog	units	8 units	units	units	units	units	units	8 units	8 units	8 units	units	units	units	8 units	8 units	8 units	units	units	units	9 units	units	units	9 units	9 units	units	units	units	units	units	units
Name of routine insulin: Lantus	units	units	24 units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	24 units	units	units	units	units	units	28 units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	28 units	units	units	units	units	units
Name of routine insulin:	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units
Name of supplemental insulin: Humalog	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	4 units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	2 units	units	units	units	units	units	units
Time given (24 hr)		1730	21:45	1	:			07:30	1300	17:15	21:30			07:45	12:45	17:15	2140			0810			12:30	17:30	21:50	:	:		:	
Nurse 1/2 initials		Stup	Sking	$\square$	$\square$	$\square$	$\square$	Stip	M	Mar Contraction	Skivp	/	$\square$	Ship	WW SP	AN	An	/	$\square$	Serre	/	$\square$	Stw	Sking	Mb		$\square$		$\square$	$\overline{\backslash}$
Comments																			hyp	o trea	ted o	us per	r prot	bcol						

Figure 34: A completed insulin administration section showing routine and supplemental doses administered

The Administration Record contains four rows in which to document administered doses, allowing for up to three types of routine insulin and one type of supplemental insulin to be recorded on the chart. An example showing how to record three types of insulin I shown in Figure 34.

#### General procedure for administering insulin and documenting administration

To administer insulin and document administration:

- Always check for orders in the Routine Insulin Orders, Supplemental Insulin Orders and Stat/Phone Orders sections before administering any insulin, because some patients may be prescribed more than one dose of insulin at a time
  - Insulin orders for the same type of insulin (for example, short-acting) may be administered together but must be documented separately in the Administration Record
  - Supplemental insulin doses should always be recorded in the blue row
- Calculate and prepare the total insulin dose (routine ± supplemental ± stat/phone); check local procedure to determine whether different types of insulin can be mixed in the same syringe
- Confirm that the insulin type and dose are correct with another appropriately trained nurse
- Find the Administration Record row that contains a handwritten label for the appropriate 'Name of routine insulin' or 'Name of supplemental insulin'; stat and phone orders are recorded in the same rows that are used for documenting routine insulin
- If the insulin name has not already been recorded in the appropriate row, copy the full trade/brand name from the Routine Insulin Orders section
- Record the dose administered in the row that contains the corresponding 'Name of routine insulin' or 'Name of supplemental insulin'; it is important that all administered doses are recorded in the correct row
- Administer the insulin
- Document the time of administration in the 'Time given' row (using 24-hour time) to accurately reflect the time of administration (which may be slightly different from the time at which the BGL was recorded)
- Initial in the top half of the 'Nurse 1/2 initials' box to acknowledge administration of the dose
- Ensure that the second nurse checking the dose initials in the bottom half of the 'Nurse 1/2 initials' box; the two sets of initials confirm the administration of each insulin dose.

#### Before administering insulin

For patients receiving routine insulin, BGL should be measured within the 30 minutes before an insulin dose. If left longer, the patient's BGL may change significantly prior to insulin administration.

Insulin doses administered at mealtimes should be given immediately before the patient eats, when their meal is in front of them.

**Rationale:** In the hospital setting, meal delivery times are variable and if a meal is delayed after insulin has been administered, hypoglycaemia may result.

#### When insulin should NOT be administered

There are some circumstances in which a prescribed dose of insulin should **not** be administered:

- If the prescriber has not completed and verified the patient ID details insulin should not be withheld unnecessarily, so the nurse should contact the prescriber urgently; if the original prescriber is not available, the nurse should contact the doctor on call instead.
- If clinical judgement indicates that a prescribed dose should not be administered for example, if the patient is fasting or vomiting – the nurse should notify the prescriber to review the dose.

#### Documenting withheld insulin

If, for any reason, an insulin dose cannot be administered as ordered, the following steps should be completed by the nurse:

- 1. Notify the prescriber
- 2. Enter code (W) for withheld in the Administration Record in place of the dose
- 3. Document both the reason and the action taken in the clinical record.

**Note:** It would be unusual for a patient with type 1 diabetes to have their insulin dose withheld completely.

## 7.1 Administration of a routine insulin dose

After taking and recording a BGL, check if an insulin dose is to be administered. As noted above, some patients may be prescribed more than one dose of insulin at a time, so always check for orders in the Routine Insulin Orders, Supplemental Insulin Orders and Stat/Phone Orders sections **before administering any insulin**.

Figure 35: Diagram showing how a prescriber may order more than one type of regular insulin

<b>Routine Insulin</b>	Orders (shoul	d not be ordered	more t	han 4 meals in a	dvance	- nurs	e must consult	doctor i	fexpe	cted dose is not	ordered)				
Prescriber signature	Print your name	Name of insulin	Date	> 5 / 17	11149	5	6/	7  15			115	<b>₿</b>	/ \/7/ / \/1/5		F
				Meal or time:			Meal or time:			Meal or time:		Meal or time:			Ņ
					units	initials	5	units	initials		units initi	als	units	initials	L
Janepunds J.	Simmonds	Humalog		Meal or time: Breakfast	units		Meal or time: Breakfast	8 units	81	Meal or time: Breakfast	8 units J	Meal or time: Breakfast	phone	e initials	N E
Jarefonds J.	Simmonds	Humalog		Meal or time: Lunch	units	initials	Meal or time: Lunch	8 units	TS	Meal or time: Lunch	8 F	Meal or time: Lunch	9 units	FS	N L
Jacknos J	I. Simmonds	Humalog		Meal or time: Dinner	8 units	FS	Meal or time: Dinner	8 units	85	Meal or time: Dinner	8 F	Meal or time: Dinner	9 units	85	N L
Jangandz J.	Simmonds	Lantus		Meal or time: Pre-bed	24	81	Meal or time: Pre-bed	24	F	Meal or time: Pre-bed	28 F	Meal or time: Pre-bed	28 units	81	N F
				Meal or time:	unite	initials	Meal or time:	unite	initials	Meal or time:	unite initi	Meal or time:	unite	initiala	М

In the Routine Insulin Orders section, standard administration times – 'Breakfast', 'Lunch', 'Dinner', 'Pre-bed' – are pre-printed in four of the six rows, but prescribers also have the

option of replacing them with a specific 24-hour time and/or ordering insulin in the other two rows. An example I shown in Figure 35

The dose is prescribed under the current 'Date' column. If there is no dose ordered where one would be expected, the nurse should contact the prescriber or doctor on call to determine if a dose is required and to provide a phone order if it is (see section 6.3.2).

The insulin should be administered and the administration documented as outlined in the general procedures on page 30. For an example, see section 7.5.1.

### 7.2 Administration of a supplemental insulin dose

If the patient has an elevated BGL– that is, recorded in one of the four highest rows of the BGL record – review the 'Supplemental Insulin Orders' and check whether there is a current supplemental order. An example is shown in Figure 36.

These orders are **valid until changed or ceased**, so the date and time recorded by the prescribing doctor indicate when the order started, **not** when the insulin is to be administered. As a result, the **start date** and **start time** for a current supplemental order can be up to five days in the past.

Figure 36: Supplemental insulin orders are written in lines that correspond to abnormal blood glucose level alerts

		_				_
		Supp	leme	ntal Ir	Isulin	
		Orde	rs			-1)
		(valid t	intii cha	anged o	r cease	a)
ber n	ame	Supple	mental	insulin	should	<u>NOT</u>
no	nds	Sliding	scale in	sulin alo	ne is NC	т
-	_	recomm needs.	nended.	Conside	er basal	insulin
		Remen based	nber: Ac	ljust rou It supple	tine insu mental i	llin Insulin
		require	ments.			
		If unsu	re, seel	< advice		
		At the	followin	ng interv	als	
		V	With me	eals only	(unless	NBM)
_			Other: .			
re		admi	nister <u>a</u>	ddition	<u>al</u> insuli	n as
15		specifi	ed belo BGL rai	w (dose	depend	s on
		Ctort d		time.		
	Chart	<u>Start</u> u	ate anu	ume		
>	Date	0 <b>7/17</b> M	DD / MM	DD / MM	DD / MM	DD / MM
:	Time (24 hr)	11:30	:	:	:	:
	Greater than 20	8 units	units	units	units	units
	16.1–20	6 units	units	units	units	units
	12.1–16	4	units	units	units	units
	8.1–12	2	dinto	unito	unito	dinto
	1_8	units	units	units	units	units
	4 0	- 83	initials	initials	initials	initials
	Less	Name	of insu	lin (shou	uld matc	h the
	man 4	routine	short-a	icting ins	sulin):	
		Prescrib	er signat	ure:	5	
			Same	ju-	-93	
		Print yo	ur name:		de	
			J 54	nmo	nas	

If there is a current order, check the administration interval to determine whether it should be administered at the present time. Most supplemental insulin orders will be for administration with meals only, but the prescribing doctor may have specified something different.

If it is appropriate to administer supplemental insulin, select the dose that corresponds to the patient's current BGL range row. Note that this may be in addition to a routine dose of the same insulin type (for example, short-acting) due at the same time. If so, calculate the total insulin dose by adding together the routine and supplemental doses before preparing the total dose. Supplemental and routine insulin of the same type may be administered together but must be documented separately.

The insulin should be administered and the administration documented in the Administration Record as outlined in the general procedures on page 31. For an example, see section 7.5.2.

#### 7.3 Administration of a phone order

If a registered nurse takes a phone order for any insulin dose – that is, routine or due to an out-of-range BGL – they must document the order in the Stat/Phone Orders section. A worked example is shown in Figure 37.

Stat/Pho	one Orders (also com	plete Ad	ministrat	ion Record)				
Date	Name of insulin	Units	When to	administer	Replaces or additional	Order type (✓)	Phone order:	Prescriber
prescribed			Date	Time (24 hr)	to existing order? (*)		initials	Signature Print prescriber name
517	NovoMix 30	4Qunits	517	09:00	Replaces Additional	Stat Phone		Jansund's J. Simmondy
DD/MM		units	DD/MM	:	Replaces Additional	Stat Phone		-
DD/MM		units	DD/MM	:	Replaces Additional	Stat Phone		
DD/MM		units	DD / MM	:	Replaces Additional	Stat Phone		
DD/MM		units	DD/MM	:	Replaces Additional	Stat Phone		

Figure 37: Insulin order received by two nurses by telephone intended to replace a routine order

If the prescriber attends the ward and prescribes a dose in the Stat/Phone Orders section, he/she must verbally inform the nurse responsible for the patient's care.

As mentioned previously, it is important for the nurse administering the order to be aware of whether the dose replaces an existing or expected order, or is additional to existing orders.

Once the correct dose or doses to be administered have been determined, the insulin should be administered and the administration documented as outlined in the general procedures on page 30.

## 7.4 Examples

This section shows some worked examples of the subcutaneous insulin chart in use.

#### 7.4.1 Routine insulin example

In this example, the nurse has measured and recorded the patient's BGL, which is 12 mmol/L at breakfast on 6/7/15. There is a routine order for 8 units of rapid-acting insulin. The patient has no additional supplemental or stat/phone orders, so the dose to be administered remains 8 units of routine rapid-acting insulin.

This is administered and documented as '8' in the relevant row in the Administration Record. The time of administration (07:30) is documented in the 'Time given' row. Then the nurses, who prepared, checked and administered the dose, initial the document after the administration. Figure 38 shows how routine insulin doses are prescribed and then recorded in the administration section.

		, ,	1	V										
Ad	ministration F	Record	(mea	ltime	e insu	lin is	giver	n at s	tart c	of mea	al uni	less c	other	wise
Nam	e of routine insulin:		units	8 units	s units	units	units	units	units	8 units	units	units	units	units
Nam L	e of routine insulin:		units	units	24 units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units
Nam	e of routine insulin:		units	units	s units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units
Nam	e of supplemental ins	ulin:	units	units	s units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units
	Time give	ven (24 hr)	:	17:30	2145	:	:	:	:	07:30	:	:	:	:
	Nurse	1/2 initials		Stin	SEm					Stw				
	(	Comments												
(shou	uld not be ordere	ed more t	than 4	l mea	als in	adva	nce -	nurs	e mu	st coi	nsult	doct	or if (	expe
our name	Name of insulin	Date	$\geq$	D5	5/M	7/1/	15			6	)/M	7 /1	-5	
			Meal or	time:			unite	initiale	Meal or	time:			unite	initiale
mds	Humalog	]	Meal or Brea	time: <b>kfast</b>			units	initials	Meal or Brea	time: <b>kfast</b>			8 '	85
mds	Humalog	j	Meal or Lunc	time: ch			units	initials	Meal or Lunc	time: time:			8 units	TS
onds	Humalog	3	Meal or Dinn	time: I <b>er</b>		2	8 units	FS.	Meal or Dinn	time: er			8 ·	85
onds	Lantus		Meal or Pre-	time: bed		1		81	Meal or Pre-	time: bed		2	4 units	FS
									Mar al as	47				

Figure 38: Prescribing and administration sections completed to reflect insulin orders given as prescribed

The same procedure is undertaken at each meal time with routine insulin. Before bed, when the basal insulin dose is often ordered, it is documented in a different row – that is, the one that corresponds with the basal insulin name.

#### 7.4.2 Supplemental insulin example

In this example, the nurse has measured and recorded the patient's BGL of 11.9 mmol/L at dinner time. The nurse then checks the Routine Insulin Orders, Supplemental Insulin Orders and Stat/Phone Orders sections.



Figure 39: Management of an abnormal blood glucose level using the appropriate supplemental insulin order

The patient has been prescribed 9 units of rapid-acting insulin as a routine insulin dose. The patient's BGL is within the upper white row (8.1–12 mmol/L), and the supplemental order specifies that an additional 2 units of rapid-acting insulin are to be given for an elevated BGL within that range. There is no stat/phone order.

The nurse prepares the total insulin dose of 11 units of rapid-acting insulin – that is, 9 units of routine rapid-acting insulin plus 2 units of supplemental rapid-acting insulin – which is checked and administered according to facility procedure. The administration record is shown in Figure 39 and the red arrows point to the routine and supplemental insulin orders.

Although the total dose is administered as a single injection, the routine and supplemental doses are documented separately in the Administration Record, as 9 and 2 units respectively. This is to allow clinicians to reconcile the amount of insulin administered. The time of administration (17:30) is documented in the 'Time given' row. Then the nurses who prepared, checked and administered the dose initial to document the administration.

#### 7.4.3 Phone order example

In this example, there is no insulin ordered for the patient at breakfast time on 8/7/15. As the patient has been receiving insulin routinely, the nurse contacts the prescriber to see if a phone order is required.

The nurse notifies the prescriber that the breakfast time BGL is 8 mmol/L. A phone order is made for 9 units of rapid-acting insulin. Since this replaces an existing or expected order (in this case, an expected order), the nurse ticks the checkbox marked 'Replaces' when recording the details of the order, as well as ticking the 'Phone' checkbox. The nurse then initials in the space provided for 'Nurse 1' to confirm receipt of the order.

A second nurse reads the written order back to the prescriber to confirm that the documentation is correct, and countersigns in the space provided for 'Nurse 2', to confirm receipt of the order. In addition, one of the nurses writes 'phone' in the relevant cell of the Routine Insulin Orders section as a cross-reference so that clinicians are aware that a phone order has been taken.

The nurses then prepare, check and administer the dose. They document it in the Administration Record, writing '9' as the units administered, entering the time of administration (08:10) in the 'Time given' row, and both initialling below. Each step in the process is shown in Figure 40 and Figure 41.

Stat/Pho	one Orders (also com	plete Ad	Iministrat	ion Record)					
Date	Name of insulin	Units	When to	administer	Replaces or additional	Order type (✓)	Phone order:	Pres	scriber
prescribed			Date	Time (24 hr)	to existing order? (* )		initials	Signature	Print prescriber name
8 / 7	Humalog	9 <sub>units</sub>	80/17/	08:00	Replaces Additional	Stat Phone	SE TIM	Janefronds	Dr Simmonds
DD / MM		units	DD / MM	:	Replaces Additional	Stat Phone			
DD/MM		units	DD / MM	:	Replaces Additional	Stat Phone			
DD/MM		units	DD/MM	:	Replaces Additional	Stat Phone			
DD/MM		units	DD/MM	1	Replaces Additional	Stat Phone			

Figure 40: Record of a phone order received by two nurses to replace a missing routine insulin order

**Figure 41:** A worked example of how a telephone order received in Figure 40 is recorded in the prescribing and administration record sections

Ada				_										_								_	_	_	_
Name	of routine insulin:	(mea	8	e insul	in is	give	n at s	start o	8	al un 8	ess o	other	wise	spec	8	n Sp 8	ecial 8	Instr	uctio	ns)	9	unite	unite	unite	unite
Name	of routine insulin:	unit	s units	24 units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	24	units	units	units	units	units	2.8 units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units
Name	of routine insulin:	unit	s units	s units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	s units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	unit
Name Hu	of supplemental insulin: Malog	unit	s units	s units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	4 units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	units	unit
	Time given (24 hr)	:	1740	2145	:	:	:	:	0730	1300	1715	2130	:	:	0745	1245	1715	21:40	:	:	0810	:	:	:	:
	Nurse 1/2 initials		M	) Skinp		/			Stin	Anj	No.	Skin		$\square$	Nut	W.F	1 Ju	M		$\angle$	Tun			$\square$	
	Comments		_			_	_				_		_			_			_		_	_	_	_	_
shoul	d not be ordered more t Name of insulin Date	han (	4 mea	als in 5) / 1\7	adva M / \	nce - 1/5	nurs	e mu	st co 6	nsult D / M	doct	tor if 1/5	expe	cted	dose Di	is no 7 / M	t orde	ered) 1\5			8	) <b>/</b> M	MIN	15	
		Meal o	r time:					Meal o	r time:					Meai o	r time:					Meal or	time:				
rds	Humalog	Meal o Brea	r time: akfast		1	B units	FS	Meal o Brea	rtime: kfast			8 units	85	Meai o Brea	r time: akfast			8 <sup>-</sup>	TS	Meal or Brea	time: kfast		ph	one	Initials
rds	Humalog	Meal o Lun	r time: ch		8	8 units	85	Meal o Lune	rtime: c <b>h</b>			8 units	TS	Meai o Lun	r time: ch			8	FS	Meal or Lunc	time: ch			units	initials
nds	Humalog	Meal o Dini	r time: 701		5	8 units	FS	Meal o Dinn	r time: Ne <i>r</i>			8 units	85	Meal o Dinn	r time: 101			8 units	FS	Meal or Dinn	time: Ie/			units	initials
nds	Lantus	Meal o Pre-	r time: bed		1	24	85	Meal o Pre-	rtime: bed		2	4 units	JS	Meal o Pre-	r time: bed		2	8 units	85	Meal or Pre-l	time: bed			units	initials
		Meal o	r time:			units	initials	Meal o	r time:			units	initials	Meai o	r time:			units	initials	Meal or	time:			units	initials

## **Comments section**

There is a small comments section in each day column within the Administration Record. This is for documenting communication between members of the team caring for the patient with regard to the patient's insulin therapy and diabetes management. An example of how to complete the section is shown in Figure 42.

Examples of what can be documented here include:

- That a hypoglycaemic event has been treated per protocol
- That the patient has been changed to intravenous insulin.

Figure 42: Clinical information can be recorded in the Comments section such as the management of an abnormal blood glucose level

L		1	/ / WWW/ WWW/ XI / MIL	V	/19441/X1/MW/MW/	V	MI	V	NWPLNY	1	1311	V	V	V	V
	Comments Reviewed at 17:30. Starting routine insulin.					Hy rei	po treated riew. Skipp	per p ed bi	protocol. Fo reakfast.	r	Call d	octor ,	for lu	nch d	loze.

## **Pharmacy review**

In the bottom right-hand corner of the chart, there is also an area for the documentation of pharmacy review.

It has been clearly demonstrated that inpatients benefit from a clinical pharmacist review of their medication regimen. Figure 43 shows how the section might be annotated to indicate that a clinical chart review has been completed.

The pharmacist undertaking the pharmacy review should sign and date the Pharmacy Review section as a record that they have reviewed the subcutaneous insulin chart on the corresponding day. Their role is to ensure that all insulin orders are clear, safe and appropriate for that individual patient, thereby reducing the risk of an adverse drug event.

Associated activities – such as liaison with medical and nursing staff, clarification of orders, and supply and administration information – are necessary to ensure safe and effective outcomes for patients.

Figure 43: Annotated Pharmacy Review section indicating that a clinical chart review has taken place

Pharm	nacy R	eview		
8 / 7	DD <b>/</b> MM	DD <b>/</b> MM	DD <b>/</b> MM	DD <b>/</b> MM
A	initials	initials	initials	initials

## **Reviewing hyperglycaemia treatment**

Page 1 of the subcutaneous insulin chart includes *Guidelines for Treatment Review Following Hyperglycaemia Alert* as shown in Figure 44. These are intended to assist less experienced clinicians, non-frequent prescribers and other non-specialist clinicians. They are not designed to decrease autonomy or specialist input. If there are any clinical concerns, then advice should always be obtained from a senior medical officer.

The guidelines include:

- Recommendations for patient assessment following a hyperglycaemia alert
- A flow diagram providing advice on the initiation of basal and mealtime insulin and adjustment of insulin doses
- A table of suggested initial stat and supplemental doses based on the patient's previous total daily dose or (if they were not previously on insulin) their weight.

Figure 44: Guidelines for the treatment of hyperglycaemia in sub-acute hospitals



# Treating hypoglycaemia and reviewing treatment

This section outlines the information contained on the chart to management blood glucose readings that are below the accepted range and the steps that should be taken to review the patient's glycaemic management once they have been stabilised.

## 11.1 Treating hypoglycaemia

Page 4 of the subcutaneous insulin chart includes a flow diagram to guide carers' actions in response to hypoglycaemia in adult patients. The diagram was designed specifically for subacute hospitals without access to an on-site emergency team and specialist diabetes advice. There is a different version of the diagram for acute care hospital settings.

The flow diagram must be used whenever a patient has a BGL reading of less than 4 mmol/L. The information box at the top of page 4 lists the signs and symptoms that may indicate a patient is experiencing hypoglycaemia. If hypoglycaemia is suspected, test the patient's BGL immediately to determine if it is less than 4 mmol/L. If the patient's BGL cannot be tested immediately, it is safer to assume that the patient is experiencing hypoglycaemia, and to respond as indicated on the flow diagram.

To use the flow diagram, start with the decision diamond at the top left. If the patient is conscious and cooperative and able to tolerate oral intake, follow the 'yes' arrow on the right. Being able to tolerate oral intake means that the patient can swallow safely, without coughing, spluttering or choking, and without nausea or vomiting afterwards.

If the three conditions in the initial decision diamond are not all met, follow the 'no' arrow down to the purple column below the arrow. This is an emergency situation that requires the fastest possible response.

Likewise, if the patient is initially conscious, cooperative and able to tolerate oral intake, but later becomes unconscious or uncooperative or unable to tolerate oral intake, return immediately to the decision diamond at the start of the diagram and work down the purple column.

Lists of appropriate food choices are included at several points in the flow diagram to guide the initial and follow-up treatment, but note the following points:

- Food choices are determined from the standard options available at each site
- Sites are encouraged to ensure that their hypoglycaemia treatment food options are available in a central location in each ward, unit and outpatient facility
- Each area should also ensure that they have access to in-date glucagon 1 milligram injections with a standing order to enable it to be used in emergency situations
- Glucose-based products are preferred as the initial treatment
- Diet (low kilojoule) products must not be used to treat hypoglycaemia.

If the episode of hypoglycaemia can be resolved locally, then the flow diagram specifies that the doctor must review both the patient's diabetes treatment and their hypoglycaemia care plan, including instructions for ongoing BGL monitoring. If the patient is transferred to an acute care facility, then these reviews should be carried out when the patient returns to the sub-acute facility.

Figure 45: Guidelines for the treatment of hypoglycaemia in sub-acute hospitals and mental health facilities



## AUSTRALIAN COMMISSION ON SAFETY AND QUALITY IN HEALTH CARE

Level 5, 255 Elizabeth Street, Sydney NSW 2000 GPO Box 5480, Sydney NSW 2001

Phone: (02) 9126 3600

Email: mail@safetyandquality.gov.au Website: www.safetyandquality.gov.au